A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Daryl C. Reid asks this Court to review the decision of 

the Court of Appeals referred to in Section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS'S DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review ofthe Court of Appeals's decision in State 

v. Daryl C. Reid. COA No. 46137-4-Il, filed July 21. 2015. Opinion 

attached at Appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

I. Whether this Comi should accept review of the Court of 

Appeals's opinion that the state established a sufficient chain of custody at 

trial to admit a baggie of methamphetamine? 

2. Whether this Comi should accept review of the Court of 

Appeals's opinion that defense counsel was not unconstitutionally 

deficient in defending Mr. Reid's possession of methamphetamine charge 

by arguing unwitting possession? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 5, 2013, Mr. Reid began a period of incarceration at 

the Cowlitz County Jail RP 1 73, 81. Because he came into jail with a back 

injury, he needed a lower bunk. RP 74-75. He was housed in a lockdown 

unit with inmate Jeremiah Landis. RP 31, 37, 83. 

1 This appeal has only a single volume of verbatim ("RP"). 



Before being incarcerated, Mr. Reid was twice searched: once by 

law enforcement and again by conections staff during booking. RP 42, 73. 

Mr. Reid did not have methamphetamine in his possession during either 

search. RP 76. 

As part of the booking process, Mr. Reid changed fi·om his 

personal clothes to jail "greens." RP 26-27, 42-43. As he was being moved 

to his assigned cell, just as all inmates do, he stopped and picked up a 

ubiquitous jail bucket. RP 38-39. Jail buckets are packed by worker 

inmates. RP 39. Each jail bucket contains exactly two wool blankets, two 

sheets, and one towel. RP 38. The buckets are Tupperware-like and 

approximately two feet wide and two feet deep. RP 33. Inmates have the 

fi·eedom to use the buckets to store personal items such as commissary 

purchases and com1 papers. RP 38. After each inmate picks up a bucket 

post-booking, the bucket remains in their cell. RP 44-45. Buckets are 

subject to search by correction officers at any time. RP 33. The buckets do 

not lock and do not have lids. RP 38. One inmate could easily put items in 

another inmate's bucket. RP 46. 

Mr. Reid had no personal propet1y and did not use the jail bucket 

after he removed from it what he needed for comfort. RP 74-75, 79. 

Inmate greens and linens are swapped out once a week. RP 26. The 

swap out occurs on a precise schedule by cell unit area. RP 28. On 
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Saturday, November 9, conections officers came to Mr. Reid's assigned 

cell unit to do the swap out. RP 29. While inmates change their clothes 

outside of their cells, conections officers search each cell for contraband. 

RP 29. 

Conections Officer Joel Treichel searched Mr. Landis's and Mr. 

Reid's cell. RP 25-26, 32. Officer Treichel estimated the cell was about 

eight feet by ten feet and fifteen feet deep. RP 31. Fixtures in the cell were 

a bunk bed and a stainless steel toilet-sink combo. RP 31. The cell did not 

leave room for privacy. RP 32. To Officer Treichel, it looked like Mr. 

Landis had made his bed on the floor rather than sleeping on the upper 

bunk. RP 33. Per Officer Treichel, inmates commonly did not want to 

sleep on the upper bunk. RP 33, 45. In addition to the fixtures, there were 

two of the ubiquitous jail buckets in the cell. One was partially under the 

bed thus closer to Mr. Reid's lower bunk. RP 33. The other was closer to 

where Mr. Landis may have been sleeping. RP 33, 45-46. Officer Treichel 

assumed the bucket closer to Mr. Reid was used by Reid and the bucket 

closer to Mr. Landis was used by Landis. RP 44-45. This, however, was 

just an assumption on Officer Treichel"s patt as he had no real way to 

know who, if either, was using the buckets. RP 4 7. 

In searching the bucket closer to Mr. Reid, Officer Treichel found 

"a little baggie, and it looked like what I thought drugs would look, you 
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know, in a baggie, what I've seen before drugs look like." RP 34. It was 

square and about two inches by two inches. RP 4 7. The baggie was laying 

undemeath some paperwork. "Mr. Reid's name was on the papers," per 

Officer Treichel. RP 34. The baggie was not otherwise concealed. RP 34, 

49. Officer Treichel did not recall the nature of the paperwork and he did 

not seize it.2 RP 24-49. Officer Treichel confronted Mr. Reid and Mr. 

Landis about the baggie. RP 79. Mr. Reid had never seen the baggie 

before. He had no idea where it came fi·om. RP 79, 80, 81. 

Cowlitz County Sheriffs Deputy Derek Baker responded to the 

call of suspected drugs in the jail. RP 53. Officer Treichel did not hand 

him anything. RP 53. Rather, an unidentified booking officer handed 

Deputy Baker "the drugs that were found in the jail." RP 35, 53-57. In 

contrast to Officer Treichel's description of the baggie, Deputy Baker 

described the item he received from the booking officer as a small Ziploc 

baggie "wrapped with electrical tape with another pharmaceutical - a 

known phannaceutical wrapping that was opened attached to it as well." 

RP 54. 

Deputy Baker packaged the baggie he received from the booking 

officer and put it into evidence at the sheriffs office. RP 56. That baggie 

was admitted over objection at trial as Exhibit 1. RP 63-64. Mr. Reid 

2 No paperwork was admitted as evidence. 
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challenged the admission arguing no adequate chain of custody had been 

established. RP 63-64. Officer Treichel never identified Exhibit 1 as the 

baggie he found in the cell shared by Mr. Reid and Mr. Landis. RP 24-49, 

64. 

Washington State Patrol forensic scientist John Dunn tested 

Exhibit 1 and detennined its contents contained methamphetamine. RP 58. 

66. 

Mr. Reid was the sole defense witness at trial. RP 72-83. He did 

not know where the baggie came from. He had not seen it. RP 80. He 

never possessed it. RP 80. Mr. Reid had done nothing to prevent Mr. 

Landis from accessing or using the bucket that originally stored Mr. 

Reid's linens. RP 74-76. Mr. Reid did not put any papers with his name on 

it in a jail bucket. RP 75. Mr. Reid had no jail papers. RP 75. 

Defense counsel requested the jury be instructed on the affirmative 

defense of unwitting possession. RP 84. The cou1t instructed the jury as 

follows: 

A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled substance if the 
possession is unwitting. Possession of a controlled substance is 
unwitting if a person did not know that the substance was in his 
possession. 

The burden is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the substance was possessed unwittingly. 
Preponderance of the evidence means you must be persuaded, 
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considering all of the evidence in the case, that it is more probably 
true than not true. 

RP 96-96; CP 48. 

Consistent with Mr. Reid's testimony, defense counsel argued in 

closing that Mr. Reid never possessed the baggie. RP 105-13. 

The State argued the giving of the unwitting possession instruction 

meant Mr. Reid conceded possession of the baggie. RP 114. 

The jury found Mr. Reid guilty of possession of 

methamphetamine. 

E. REASON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4), a petition for review will be 

accepted by the Supreme Court if a significant question of law under 

either the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States 

is involved, or if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that 

should be detem1ined by the Supreme Court. 

Mr. Reid's conviction for possession of methamphetamine was 

affim1ed by the Court of Appeals in error. No factual basis supported the 

conviction because the change of custody for the methamphetamine was 

not established at trial. The Court of Appeals also erred in failing to find 

the offering of an unwitting possession jury instmction was in error and 

denied Mr. Reid constitutionally guaranteed effective assistance of 
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counsel. Both errors implicate the state and federal constitutions and call 

for review by this Court. 

1. The state failed to prove an adequate chain of custody. 

To be admissible, physical evidence of a crime must be sufficiently 

identified and demonstrated to be in substantially the same condition as 

when the crime was committed. State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 21, 691 

P.2d 929 ( 1984 ). Factors to be considered include the nature of the article, 

the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the 

likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it. !d. On appeal, a trial court's 

decision to admit evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. !d. 

Drug evidence, which is not readily identifiable and is susceptible 

to alteration by tampering or contamination, should be identified by the 

testimony of each custodian in the chain of custody from the time the 

evidence was acquired. State v. Roche, 114 Wn. App. 424, 436, 59 P.3d 

682 (2002). TI1e proponent of the evidence must "establish a chain of 

custody 'with sufficient completeness to render it improbable that the 

original item has either been exchanged with another or been 

contaminated or tampered with."' !d. (quoting United States v. Cardenas, 

864 F.2d 1528, 1531 (1 0111 Cir. 1989) ). 

The state failed to make a sufficient showing that Exhibit 1 was the 

baggie found by Officer Treichel. The evidence failed to establish that 
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Officer Treichel properly tracked the baggie between the time he found it 

and the time Deputy Baker collected a baggie from an unnamed jail 

booking officer. Officer Treichel described the baggie he found merely as a 

two inch by two inch square. RP 34, 47. Deputy Baker described a 

different item. The item he received from a booking officer was a small 

Ziploc baggie wrapped in electrical tape with pham1aceutical wrapping 

attached to it. RP 54. 

Officer Treichel never explained who handled the baggie between 

the time he found it and the time it made its way to an unnamed booking 

officer. RP 24-49. 

Officer Treichel was never asked during his testimony to identify 

Exhibit 1 even though the prosecutor had Exhibit 1 in the courtroom when 

questioning Officer Treichel. RP 110. Thus, the state failed to "establish a 

chain of custody with sufficient completeness to render it improbable that 

the original item had either been exchanged with another or been 

contaminated or tampered with." Roche, 114 Wn. App. at 436. 

The state bears the burden of proving each element of the crime 

charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. Ne1r Jersey, 530 U.S. 

466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 

U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). A criminal 

defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction 

8 



is based upon insufficient evidence. !d. U.S. Canst Amend. 14: Wash. 

Const. Art. I, § 3: City of Seattle v. Slack, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 

494 ( 1989). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after 

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any 

rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 

S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 {1979): State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 

616 P.2d 628 {1980). 

For Mr. Reid to be guilty, the State had to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Mr. Reid possessed methamphetamine. CP l, 4 7. 

Absent Exhibit I, there is no evidence Mr. Reid possessed 

methamphetamine. The state failed to meet its burden. Reversal and 

dismissal of the prosecution is required. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 

103,954 P.2d 900 (1998). 

2. Defense counsel proposing an unwitting possession 
instruction denied Mr. Reid effective assistance of counsel. 

A person accused of a crime has a constitutional right to effective 

assistance of counsel. U.S. Canst. Amend VI; 3 Canst. Art. I, ~ 22;4 United 

States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 654, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed2d 657 

-' The Sixth Amendment provides. in relevant pm1, "In all criminal prosecutions, the 
accused shall enjoy the right. .. to have the Assistance of Counsel fm· his defense." 
4 Article 1. ~ 22 of the Washington Constitution provides, in relevant part. "ln criminal 
prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person. or by 
counsel. ... " 
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(1984); State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). 

'The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system 

embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and 

knowledge is necessary to afford defendants the 'ample opportunity to 

meet the case ofthe prosecution' to which they are entitled'."' Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), 

quoting Adams v. United States ex rei. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 276, 63 

S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 ( 1942 ). 

A new trial should be granted if ( 1) counsel's performance at trial 

was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. As to the first inquiry, an attomey renders 

constitutionally inadequate representation when he or she engages in 

conduct for which there is no legitimate strategic or tactical basis. State v. 

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1998 ). A decision is 

not permissibly tactical or strategic if it is not reasonable. Roe v. Flares

Ortega, 528 U.S. 470,481, 120 S.Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000); see 

also Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510. 521. 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 

471 (2003) (''[t]he proper measure of attomey performance remains 

simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms"), quoting 

Strickland. 466 U.S. at 688. While an attomey's decisions are treated with 
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deference, his or her actions must be reasonable under all the 

circumstances. Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 533-34. 

As to the second prong, if there is a reasonable probability that but 

for counsel's inadequate performance, the result would have been 

different. prejudice is established and reversal is required. Strickland. 466 

U.S. at 694; Hendrickson. 129 Wn.2d at 78. A reasonable probability "is a 

probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 

P.2d 816 (1987). It is a lower standard than the "more likely than not" 

standard. Thomas. 1 09 Wn.2d at 226. 

"A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed 

question of fact and Jaw [and is] reviewed de novo.'' State v. Sutherby, 165 

Wn.2d 870, 883,204 P.3d 916 (2009). 

Mr. Reid's testimony at trial was that he neither possessed the 

ubiquitous jail bucket nor the baggie found in the bucket. RP 72-82. In 

closing argument, trial counsel reiterated Mr. Reid's trial testimony. RP 

105-113. This contrasted with the State's theory that each inmate had 

dominion and control over a specific bucket and could exclude their 

cellmate and other inmates from the bucket. RP 103, 116. 

In order to convict a defendant of possession of a controlled 

substance, the State must prove that the person possessed a controlled 
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substance and. specifically. what the substance was. RCW 69.50.4013. 

Knowledge is not an element of the crime of possession of a controlled 

substance. State v. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d 528, 537-38, 98 P.3d 1190 

(2004 ), cert. denied, 544 U.S. 922 (2005 ). Washington has adopted the 

affim1ative defense of unwitting possession in drug possession cases in 

order to ameliorate the harslmess of a strict liability offense. Bradsaw. 152 

Wn.2d at 538; State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 799, 872 P.2d 502 (1994 ); 

State v. Cleppe, 96 Wn.2d 373,380-81,635 P.2d 435 (1981), cert. denied, 

456 U.S. 1006 (1982). Because unwitting possession is an affirmative 

defense, it falls on the defendant to prove the possession is unwitting 

possession. Cleppe, 96 Wn.2d at 381; State v. Michael, 160 Wn. App. 522, 

527, 247 P.3d 842, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1015 (2011). If the 

defendant affirmatively established that "his 'possession' was unwitting, 

then he had no possession on which the law will convict." Cleppe. 96 

Wn.2d at 381. 

It was not objectively reasonable for defense counsel to propose an 

unwitting possession instruction: it was not Mr. Reid's defense. Defense 

counsel argued in closing only that Mr. Reid never possessed a baggie and 

more specifically did not possess either of the ubiquitous jail buckets or 

anything in the buckets. RP 109-10. Defense counsel never gave the jUly 

any context to help them apply the unwitting possession instruction 
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because there was no applicable context. What the instruction did was 

leave Mr. Reid inexcusably vulnerable to the prosecutor's rebuttal closing 

argument telling the jury the unwitting possession instruction meant Mr. 

Reid conceded possession of the baggie. 

PROSECUTOR: His argument, as you've been instructed, also 
includes this idea that he didn't know it was there. He didn't know 
it was there: unwitting possession. Well, when you have an 
unwitting possession case, the place that you start with is he 
agrees he was in possession of that bag, because the Defense says 
he was in possession, he simply didn't know he was in possession. 
So he's essentially agreeing that that bag was in his possession. In 
order to do that, he would have to agree that the bag was in his bin, 
with his stuff, underneath his bed. But he also refutes that fact. He 
refutes the fact of where the bin was located, what was in the bin, 
where the location of Mr. Landis was, the location of Mr. Landis' 
bin, he refutes all of that. But he also argues, "I didn't know that I 
was in possession of it." You have two competing arguments here, 
both of which you're supposed to consider. Both of which you are 
supposed to consider what suppmts it. All you have to this man 
saying it must have been somebody else, it must have been this 
way, it must have been that way. It could have been this way, it 
could have been that way. That's what he's asking you to believe. 

RP 114-15 (emphasis added). 

Jurors are told the law requires each instruction be given equal 

impmtance. '"The order of these instructions has no significance as to their 

relative importance. They are all impmtant." CP 39. By proposing the 

unwitting possession instruction, defense counsel told the jury the 

instruction was needed to resolve the issues in the case. But given the 
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defense theory of the case, the instruction was irrelevant. Proposing the 

affirmative defense instruction was an unreasonable trial tactic. 

Trial counsel's deficient perfom1ance alone "does not warrant 

setting aside the judgment. .. if the enor had no effect on the judgment." 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. In order to establish prejudice, Mr. Reid "must 

show that there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's 

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been 

different." /d. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to 

undermine confidence in the outcome." /d. The defendant is not required to 

establish his innocence or even demonstrate "that counsel's deficient 

conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 693. 

In order to establish prejudice, Mr. Reid need only show that had 

his attorney not proposed an unwitting possession instruction, there was a 

reasonable probability that the jury's verdict would have been different. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. "A reasonable probability is a probability 

sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." /d. 

From a jury perspective, the only explanation of the unrebutted 

unwitting possession instruction was that it meant Mr. Reid conceded 

possession. RP 114-15. Up to that point in the case, who possessed the 

baggie was a legitimate question. There were two inmates. The papers with 
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Mr. Reid's name on them were not seized or investigated. Mr. Landis had 

no incentive to get himself in trouble for having dmgs in the jail. He did 

have incentive to make sure Mr. Reid was blamed for the dmgs. 

Defense counsel"s proposal of the unwitting possession instmction 

undennined confidence in the verdict. It was error for the Court of Appeals 

to hold otherwise. 

F. CONCLUSION 

This Court should accept review of Mr. Reid's Petition for Review.