RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 02, 2015, 11:25 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 92111-3 COA NO. 46137-4-II Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 13-1-01494-4

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DARYL C. REID,

Appellant/Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
AILA WALLACE/WSBA 46898
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, by and through the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office, respectfully requests this Court deny review of the July 11, 2015, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State* v. *Reid*, COA No. 46137-4-II. This decision affirmed the Petitioner's conviction for possession of a controlled substance in a county jail.

II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals properly held that the state established the proper chain of custody to support the admission of the drug evidence and that defense counsel's request of an unwitting possession jury instruction did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daryl Reid, the petitioner, was booked into the Cowlitz County Jail on November 5, 2013. RP 30. He was housed in cell F10 with Jeremiah Landis, who had been in custody since October 6, 2013. RP 30. The petitioner took the bottom bunk, and Mr. Landis had made his bed on the floor, which is typical for the jail, as people do not like to get up on the top bunk. RP 33.

At booking, each inmate is given a bin, or Tupperware container, that contains two blankets, two sheets, and a towel. RP 33, 38. The bins are packed by worker inmates. RP 39. An inmate can use the bin to keep his property, such as court paperwork or commissary. RP 38–39. In Officer Joel Treichel's experience as a corrections officer, individuals keep their property in their own bins; inmates typically do not keep their property in other people's bin. RP 48.

Four days after the petitioner was booked into jail, on Saturday, November 9, 2013, the jail conducted a "linen and green exchange." RP 32. A linen and green exchange is when jail staff changes out the inmate's clothes, towels, and sheets. RP 26. Jail cells are also searched for contraband during the exchange. RP 28.

As part of the linen and green exchange that took place on November 9, 2013, Officer Treichel went into the petitioner's cell. RP 33. There was a property bucket near the door and a property bucket near or almost underneath the bottom bunk, where the petitioner's head would be. RP 33, 44. Officer Treichel did not know which bucket belonged to which inmate until he began the search and found papers with the petitioner's name on them in the bucket near the bottom bunk. RP 34. Once he picked up those papers, Officer Treichel found a small baggie that looked like what he thought drugs would look like. RP 34. Officer Treichel described that

baggie as being approximately two inches square. RP 47. He transferred possession of the baggie to Deputy Derek Baker, the sheriff's deputy that arrived to investigate. RP 35.

Deputy Baker testified at trial that he spoke to Officer Treichel, and the booking officer handed him the drugs that were found in the bin at the jail. RP 53–54. He described the baggie as a small Ziploc baggie with a crystalline substance inside, that was wrapped with electrical tape. RP 54. Deputy Baker transferred the baggie back to the Sheriff's Office and submitted it into evidence to be sent to the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab for analysis. RP 54. Washington State Patrol Forensic scientist John Dunn tested Exhibit 1 and determined it contained methamphetamine. RP 58, 66. Deputy Baker testified at trial that Exhibit One was the baggie he submitted into evidence. RP 57. The baggie was admitted at trial as Exhibit One. RP 63–64.

At trial, defense counsel requested the jury be instruction on the affirmative defense of unwitting possession. RP 84.

The petitioner was found guilty of possession of methamphetamine. CP 3, 4. He was sentenced to 12 months plus 1 day standard range sentence, plus the 12 month county jail enhancement. CP 11; RP 130.

On appeal, the petitioner argued that the State had not properly established the chain of custody for the drug evidence and that trial counsel

had been ineffective in requesting an unwitting possession jury instruction.

The Court of Appeals disagreed and affirmed the conviction.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals properly held that the State established the requisite chain of custody and that trial counsel was not ineffective; therefore, the petition for review should not be granted.

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court only if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Division II Court of Appeals holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions either the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court Appeals. The

holding also does not raise a significant question of law or involve an issue of substantial public interest.

1. A significant question of law is not involved in this case.

Before an object can be properly admitted into evidence, "it must be satisfactorily identified and shown to be in substantially the same condition as when the crime was committed." *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn. 2d 1, 21, 691 P.2d 929 (1984). In determining whether an object is admissible, courts look to the nature of the item, the circumstances surrounding the item's preservation and custody, and the likelihood of it being tampered with. *Id.* The proponent of the evidence does not need to identify it with absolute certainty, or eliminate every possibility of alteration or substitution. *Id.* "Minor discrepancies or uncertainty on the part of the witness will affect only the weight of evidence, not its admissibility." *Id.* The standard of review of a trial court's decision to admit evidence is abuse of discretion. *Id.*

Evidence that is readily identifiable can be identified by a witness who can state that the evidence is what it purports to be. *State v. Roche*, 114 Wn. App. 424, 437, 59 P.3d 682 (2002). When evidence is not readily identifiable, it is normally identified by the testimony of each custodian in the chain of custody from the time the evidence was acquired. *Id.* The

chain of custody must be established with sufficient completeness to make it improbable that the original item was exchanged with another, contaminated, or tampered with. *Id.* The State established a sufficient chain of custody here.

As the Court of Appeals mentioned, the testimony presented at trial tracked the baggie of drugs from Officer Treichel to Deputy Baker and then to the forensic scientist. Deputy Baker and the forensic scientist then identified the baggie at trial. The Court of Appeals also pointed out that the descriptions of the baggie given by Officer Treichel and Deputy Baker were not necessarily different. Officer Treichel described the item's size, while Deputy Baker described its appearance. Both men were describing the same item – the drugs found in the Petitioner's cell.

This issue does not raise a significant question under the Constitution. The Court of Appeals properly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the drug evidence. The petition should therefore be denied.

Similarly, trial counsel's request for an unwitting possession instruction was not ineffective assistance of counsel and does not raise a significant question under the law. "If trial counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel."

State v. McNeal, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002). Trial counsel has "wide latitude in making tactical decisions." State v. Sardinia, 42 Wn.App. 533, 542, 713 P.2d 122 (1986). "Such decisions, though perhaps viewed as wrong by others, do not amount to ineffective assistance of counsel." Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 446 U.S. 668 (1984)).

Looking at the entire record in this case, trial counsel gave effective representation, and his actions were legitimate trial strategy. The evidence presented in this case was defendant was housed with one other person in jail cell F10. RP 30. Four days after he was booked, a baggie of methamphetamine was found inside the bin nearest the defendant. That bin also included papers with the defendants name on them. RP 33-34. There is no indication in the record that the defendant did not have his own bin. In fact, there are multiple points in the record where the defendant was asked about and referred to his bucket. The defendant testified that he had never seen the methamphetamine that was found in his bin. RP 76. He was asked, "Did you ever see Mr. Landis accessing your bucket?", and he responded that he had not. RP 81. He was also asked, "Is it your position that Mr. Landis is the one who put the meth in your bucket?", to which he responded that he could not say. RP 81. The defendant did not say anything to refute that he had his own bucket. Given that, plus the testimony from Officer Treichel regarding jail protocol and inmate's bins (RP 38, 48), a

reasonable jury could find that the defendant did have dominion and control over one bin but the possession of the methamphetamine was unwitting. However, a reasonable jury could also find that the defendant did not possess the bin or the methamphetamine, as trial counsel argued. Therefore, it is sound trial strategy to give the jury an alternate reason to find the defendant not guilty. Either the jury could find that the defendant possessed neither the bin nor the methamphetamine or, if they found that he possessed the bin, the possession of the meth inside the bin was unwitting.

Furthermore, defense counsel did give some context for the unwitting possession instruction in his closing argument. He argued, "He had no control over what was in that bin...you know, exclusive control, I should say, over what's in the bin." RP 112. This is functionally an argument that, if the jury wants to find that the bin was in fact the defendant's, he did not have knowledge of what was in it. The defense attorney was giving the jury two alternate theories under which they could find the defendant not guilty. For these reasons, trial counsel's decision to request an unwitting possession instruction was a legitimate trial tactic. His performance was not deficient.

2. There is no question of substantial public interest in this case.

The two issues presented here do not raise questions of substantial public interest. The first, that the State did not establish the chain of custody for the drug evidence, is an issue that has been litigated many times. Review of the issue is for abuse of discretion, and the trial court's discretion will not be disturbed absent clear abuse. There simply was no abuse of discretion in this case.

Similarly, whether trial counsel was effective does not raise a question of substantial public interest with regards to this case. The defense attorney was giving the jury two alternate theories under which they could find the defendant not guilty. The Court of Appeals held that trial counsel's actions were legitimate trial strategy, which is clear from the record.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner's petition for discretionary review should be denied.